# The Neurological Sites Impacted Post-COVID-19 Infection

Submitted by

Micaiah Jasmine Whitaker

Health Sciences

То

The Honors College

Oakland University

In partial fulfillment of the

requirement to graduate from

The Honors College

Mentor: Christopher Jason Kauhn M.S.

Special Lecturer

Department of Biological Science

Oakland University

April 7th, 2023

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract

Current Research

Introduction

Aims

Objectives

Methodology

Analysis

Results

COVID-19 Cytokine Storm Phenomenon

COVID-19 Neuroinvasion

Cognitive and Motor Impairments

Motor and Visual Impairments

Discussion

Outcomes

**Biographical Note** 

Acknowledgments

Cited References

Additional References

#### Abstract

This literature review intends to prove that there is a correlation between anatomical and physiological effects of the brain that the patient exhibits post COVID-19. This will be achieved through identification and comparison of anatomical, biochemical, histological, and physiological sources of *long COVID*-related memory impairment as well as cognitive, motor, and visual deficits within the brain. From that information, this literature review will correlate each symptom to a set of structures that may produce *long-COVID*-associated symptoms in patients. With this knowledge, we may be able to formulate successful treatment plans based on the sites of infection. A strong understanding of areas of the brain generally worsened post *long-COVID-19 infection* could improve the accuracy of treatment and enhance its effects. Most favorably, treatment could one day better the daily lives of individuals suffering from cognitive, memory, motor, or visual deficits by reducing their symptoms.

This literature review intends to find missing areas within today's research about *post-COVID-19 syndrome* and subsequently prove that it is unadded knowledge to the field. The research will proceed with a specific set of research terms to incorporate the most relevant findings. All articles listed in this proposal are acquired from Oakland University's Kresge Library or Google Scholar. Articles related to the disease in question are written within the past three years, and all articles included in this literature review are peer-reviewed and originally written in English.

#### **Current Research**

*Post-COVID-19 syndrome* and *long COVID syndrome* are terms used to describe the residual symptoms of a COVID-19 viral infection. Such symptoms last from a couple of weeks to a few years depending on the patient's gender and pre-existing conditions. Recent studies acknowledge the manifestations of *long-COVID-19* due to a large population of patients experiencing lingering symptoms (Duggan et al. 2022; Stefanou et al. 2022). The common symptoms observed in one study are cognitive decline, fatigue, "brain fog," myalgia, dizziness, word-finding difficulties, and memory impairment (Duggan et al. 2022). In regard to where the neurological infection takes place and what tissues are affected, it has yet to be determined. Therefore, the general purpose of this study is to establish and correlate the specific sites of neurological damage to symptoms from the COVID-19 virus.

In addition to the acknowledgment of *long-COVID-19* symptoms, scientists have discovered variables contributing to the severity and quantity of symptoms in patients. Two primary factors mentioned are age (Del Brutto et al. 2021) and the severity of the COVID-19 disease state (Akbari et al. 2021). In the age-related study, elderly patients demonstrated greater reductions in cognitive function in comparison to their younger counterparts. Similarly, the average hospitalized COVID patient had more severe symptoms than non-hospitalized COVID participants. Within these studies, however, specific areas in the cerebrum suffering from cognitive decline were not determined as researchers were unable to pinpoint an area leading to brain fog and memory impairment. Thankfully, there is a possibility that the residual effects of post-COVID syndrome may not be permanent. A particular study used Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) scores over the duration of 1 year to discover that the cognitive performance in *long-COVID-19* patients ultimately improved over time without specific treatment (Del Brutto et al. 2021).

What is known thus far only scratches the surface of what is known about post-COVID-19 syndrome as there is little known about the sites of neurological infection. As of now, only a few studies have speculated on COVID-19's frequent targets in the brain. One analysis stated that the COVID-19 virus happens to stimulate mast cells in the hypothalamus thus causing massive stress in the patient. The result of this chronic stress could leave residual symptoms of cognitive dysfunction and brain fog (Cholevas et al. 2021). Another study, through the use of cerebral FDG PET scans, examined the brains of neurological long-COVID-19 patients and proposes that the cingulate cortex, a separate structure from the hypothalamus, is also a target of the infection due to one of the participants displaying cortical hypometabolism (Farid et al. 2021). The source also compared the case of hypometabolism in former COVID patients to those who suffer from Alzheimer's disease. Interestingly enough, a second study by Dr. Shimohata made a similar connection between neurological long-COVID patients and neurodegenerative disorder patients (2022). According to these studies, the virus harbors within the brain and destroys brain cells as compared to neurodegenerative disorders. However, despite the wealth of information acquired, the studies were only able to determine areas of the cerebrum unrelated to the motor, sensory, and cognitive deficiencies.

As we can see, the aforementioned studies neglected to ascertain numerous sites affected by COVID-19 infection in the brain. Due to the limited information presented in the current conversation, the following study will map out and compare specific locations in which COVID-19 attacks the cerebrum and what parts of the brain are damaged post-COVID infection. Establishing the sites of viral infection could prompt medical professionals to search for and enhance COVID-related treatments against the effects of cognitive decline. Consequently, treatments rendered to patients who could potentially suffer from neurological COVID-19 symptoms could assist with faster recovery, thus improving their quality of life.

#### Aims and Objectives

The overall objective of this review is to determine and compare what specific structures of the cerebrum produce *long-COVID-19* symptoms. The project will review the series of memory, motor, sensory, and visual symptoms demonstrated by patients and reason through the several areas of the brain that could relate to such manifestations. The end goal will be to obtain a solidified map of brain structures contributing to their respective residual effects and determine what characteristics these structures have in common.

## Aims

1. To obtain a general understanding of the types of cognitive, memory, motor, and visual impairments that many patients experience as a result of post-COVID infection.

2. To make an anatomical correlation between brain structures and their respective neurological *long-COVID-19* symptoms exhibited by the average patient.

3. To discover specific synaptic pathways connecting various long-COVID-infected brain structures.

#### **Objectives**

- 1. At this time, there is no agreement on what symptoms are related or unrelated to *long-COVID syndrome*. For this reason, this project will establish the commonalities of symptoms between prominent research articles and journals. The similarities will serve as the foundation for determining what symptoms are related to specific brain structures, possibly improving what we know about COVID-19 and how it creates long-term effects in the brain.
- 2. The association of brain structures to the onset of symptoms could help us understand what COVID-19 is capable of doing to the brain temporarily and permanently. Obtaining a general idea of which structures are transformed post-COVID-19 infection could encourage therapeutic strategies to restore such areas. It could also spread awareness of what symptoms necessitate careful attention after recovering from the illness.
- 3. By using what is already known about the brain's anatomy and its neurological properties, we could learn about the pathogenesis of COVID-19 within the brain. Understanding how the virus enters the brain may allow for the field of medicine to combat viral entry into the brain for patients diagnosed with COVID-19.

### Methodology

This literature review intends to prove that there is a gap in research by collecting a series of articles and journals reflecting what is already known about the residual symptoms in COVID patients. Then, it will highlight the similarities between said contents as well as the areas yet to be covered about *long-COVID-19*; particularly *long-COVID-19* within the cerebrum. By pinpointing specific gaps in research regarding *long-COVID-19*, the project will prove that there is a need to investigate that area in the future.

The database used to select all research articles and journals mentioned in this review is Oakland University's Kresge Library OneSearch and Google Scholar search engine. Key terms entered into the search engine are "brain," "neurological," "brain fog," "motor," and "sensory." The purpose of entering key terms and selecting peer-reviewed articles alone is to ensure that all results are related to the in-depth current research of long-COVID in the brain only. All data will be collected from English articles published between the years 2020 and 2022. Content that is not peer-reviewed will be excluded from the project to dismiss information that is not relevant to the current literature. However, this literature review accepts all forms of peer review processes.

#### Results

Multiple studies regarded attention, processing speed, language comprehension, word-finding abilities, and reduced verbal and visuospatial memory to be commonly reduced in patients suffering from *long-COVID-19*. All symptoms were a direct result of fatigue. Unlike other neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease, *long-COVID-19* is not the direct cause of disabled motor movements. However, it does correlate to chronic joint and muscular pain. Such pain gives rise to motor deficiencies often found. A very limited set of studies reported visual impairments as a notable symptom of *long-COVID-19* and therefore will not be considered one that the majority of patients experience.

#### **COVID-19** Cytokine Storm Phenomenon

Similar to other organs of the body, the brain possesses a highly-regulated system capable of responding to unwanted materials (i.e. pathogens). The microenvironment consists of various glial cells responsible for maintaining homeostasis within the brain and its junction with the bloodstream. Many resident cells are naturally activated in cases of inflammation in the body and near the brain. A few of those cells are microglia, astrocytes, mast cells, and oligodendrocytes. Neuroinflammation is the brain's natural response to a pathogen and is moderated by chemokines, cytokines, and free radicals.

Microglia are a subset of glial cells found in the central nervous system. They are macrophages that consume dead brain cells, repair damaged areas, and respond to inflammation. They are also capable of interacting with astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in certain disease conditions (Bachiller et al. 2018). Microglia possess two phenotypes: M1 and M2. M1 is a state in which they release pro-inflammatory cytokines to contact neighboring glial cells and perform phagocytosis (consumption) of foreign bodies (Mosser and Edwards 2008). When a pathogen is detected in the central nervous system, microglia will change their phenotype from M2 to M1 and trigger astrocytes response through the release of specialized proteins: pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , etc.) and ATP (Smith et al. 2011).

Astrocytes are star-shaped glial cells in the CNS that are designed to cycle neurotransmitters and maintain a strong blood-brain barrier (Sofroniew and Vintners, 2010). The blood-brain barrier is made of tight endothelial junctions and essentially regulates the exchange of molecules between the bloodstream and the brain to maintain homeostasis (Cabezas et al. 2014). They can release growth factors such as (VEGF, glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor

9

(GDNF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), and ANG-1) which facilitate the formation of tight endothelial cell junctions (Alvarez et al. 2013; Wong et al. 2013). Structurally, astrocytes are the first line of defense in preventing pathogens from entering the brain.

The released ATP and cytokines from microglia bind to the G protein-coupled receptors of astrocytes (Buffo et al. 2010). After the reception of cytokines from microglia, astrocytes will release nitrogen monoxide and glutamate or decrease the uptake of neurotransmitters outside of their cell bodies. Both of these cases cause apoptosis of neighboring cells such as oligodendrocytes. Astrocytes will also secrete cytokines of their own to recruit more oligodendrocytes and white blood cells as well as respond to pro-inflammatory cytokines from activated oligodendrocytes (Linnerbauer et al. 2020). In additional response to pro-inflammatory neuronal activity from microglia, astrocytes will release potassium ions and prostaglandins onto blood vessels from their end feet which then decrease the structural integrity of the blood-brain barrier (Paulson and Newman 1987; Linnerbauer et al. 2020). The crosstalk between the astrocytes and the endothelial cells allows for white blood cells and pathogens to enter the cerebral spinal fluid. Astrocytes detect the changes from peripheral neurons and blood vessels and relay the message back to microglia and oligodendrocytes with the aim to prevent any further damage to CNS tissue. This continuous bidirectional process between microglia and astrocytes promotes inflammation. Mast cells, which are residents of the blood-brain barrier, also increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier through the release of histamine. The main goal of mast cells is to bind to pathogens and release cytokines to crosstalk with other neurons in hopes of eliminating the invader (Marshall JS 2004).

While the process of neuroinflammation is natural and helpful, prolonged exposure to these inflammatory responses can lead to neuronal death from the toxicity of cytokines; this is often the case for chronic diseases and even COVID-19. In such scenarios, an excessive number of cytokines are released into the blood in a short period of time. Many call this uncontrolled and chronic neuroinflammation a "cytokine storm."

#### **COVID-19** Neuroinvasion

A particular study (Zhang et al. 2021) reveals that the COVID-19 virus disrupts the basement membrane of the blood-brain barrier, allowing the virus to infect brain tissue. Neuroinvasion is accomplished by direct infection and replication of primary basement membrane endothelial cells as well as up-regulation of MMP9 to degrade the basement membrane. There also tends to be an elevation in tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) during the onset of COVID-19. This tendency for COVID-19 patients to have high levels of TNF- $\alpha$  mirrors the upregulation of the same cytokine in chronic fatigue patients (Yang et al. 2019). It has also been shown that the level of fatigue may show a direct correlation with the overproduction of TNF- $\alpha$  and other inflammatory signals (Berenetschot et al. 2022). In summary, the COVID-19 virus is often detected by microglia as shown by the increased release of TNF- $\alpha$  which, in turn, activates astrocytes and mast cells that ultimately increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier. The entrance and prolonged stay of the virus allows for a consistent production of TNF- $\alpha$  which is suggested to produce fatigue.

## **Cognitive and Memory Impairments**

Various studies show that cognitive impairment is a recurring symptom among patients with *long-COVID-19*. Specifically, working memory (Edith et. al 2021; Albu et al. 2022; Almeria et al. 2020; Hosp et. al. 2021; Zhou, et al. 2020), executive functioning (Versace et al. 2021; Alemanno et al. 2021) attention (Mattioli et al. 2021), and spatial confusion (Matos et al. 2021) are the most commonly reported cognitive symptoms. In terms of memory, the majority of research articles report that memory impairment is incredibly common with typically more than half of samples exhibiting this. This symptom is even said to have a direct correlation with increased depression and anxiety (Albu et al. 2021; Almeria et al. 2020; Hampshire et al. 2021; Llanna et al., 2022; Venkataramani and Winkler, 2022; Zhao et al. 2022). There are two primary forms of memory impairment shown: Verbal memory - word-finding and recognition - and visuospatial memory - identifying an object and its location relative to other objects. Tests conducted on patients show a common theme of delayed object recognition among those who tested COVID-19 positive (Aiello et al. 2022; Albu et al. 2022; Ferrucci et al. 2022; Hosp et. al. 2021; Zhao et al. 2022). In terms of verbal memory, various sources record a trend of delayed word recall (Albu et al. 2022; Ferrucci et al. 2021; Mendez et al. 2021).

#### Motor and Visual Impairments

Impaired voluntary movement is not commonly claimed to be a direct outcome of *long-COVID-19*, rather it is said to be a result of fatigue and joint pain. Additionally, visual disorders are not reported as common symptoms of acute or *long-COVID-19* (Galal et al. 2021; Sykes et al. 2021; Hadad et al. 2022). In general, both forms of impairment are considered anomalies and were said to arise from pre-existing conditions.

### Discussion

A number of studies compare the symptoms of *long-COVID-19* to the typical symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome (Venkataramani and Winkler 2022; Wostyn 2021),

neurodegenerative disorders (Venkataramani & Winkler, 2022), and executive function disorder (Ardila & Lahiri, 2020). From this information alone, we can speculate which areas of the brain are altered in a typical patient. One 2008 research article notes that patients with chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) often had a highly activated occipito-parietal cortex, posterior cingulate cortex, and parahippocampal gyrus (Caseras et al. 2008). The occipital lobe is generally responsible for visual processing and spatial recognition and may be overstimulated *long-COVID-19* patients who demonstrate signs of delayed object recognition. The posterior cingulate cortex is involved in memory, like the hippocampus, and is involved in visuospatial processing similar to the occipital-parietal cortex (Rolls 2019). We can therefore suggest that the hippocampus and posterior cingulate cortex correlate with delayed object recognition and poor visual perception in patients.

The same study that connected *long-COVID-19* to neurodegenerative disorders (Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease, Parkinson's disease, etc.) and CFS (Venkataramani and Winkler 2022) finds that *long-COVID-19* microglial activation is prevalent in subcortical and microglial white-matter regions and suggests that the inflammatory response is associated with inhibited hippocampal neurogenesis. It also claims that inflammation in the hippocampal area may explain why patients tend to have poorer memory. CFS, which is functionally similar to

COVID-19, occurs as a result of nerve cells in the central or peripheral systems losing their function over time and eventually dying. By means of the entorhinal cortex, which connects the hippocampus and parahippocampus, the information can be combined with object and reward-related information to form episodic memories (Rolls and Wirth 2018). From both of these studies, we can conclude that the hippocampus's infection is responsible for poor memory and lack of perception due to inhibited neurogenesis and rapid hippocampal cell death.

Executive dysfunction syndrome is defined as a disorder in the frontal lobe that lessens one's ability to plan and manage their own thoughts, emotions, and actions. In summary, "brain fog" is one of the most prevalent symptoms. Patients with dementia and chronic fatigue syndrome more often than not demonstrate poor executive function and we see this in a great number of post-COVID-19 patients. With executive function being a primary issue for this patient population, there is a likelihood that the thalamus, and by extension, the prefrontal cortex of the brain (Ardila 2019) are targeted by the virus. Interestingly enough, the thalamus, cingulate cortex, and hippocampus all share a similar neuronal tract. The thalamus is connected to the cingulate cortex by the thalamocingulate tract. This pathway then travels along the cingulum and eventually enters the parahippocampal gyrus and hippocampus (Weininger et al 2019). The parahippocampus provides an additional route to the hippocampus via the entorhinal cortex and provides the hippocampus with visuospatial information. Due to the fact that the thalamus, cingulate cortex, and hippocampus all correlate to symptoms exhibited by *long-COVID-19* patients, it is likely that the virus targets the thalamocingulate tract and entorhinal cortex.

Language comprehension impairment is a shared symptom among *long-COVID-19* and chronic fatigue syndrome (CSF) patients as well. Ergo, there is a probable similarity in the

changes of white and gray matter for both populations. A particular study (Zeineh et al. 2014) notices that those with CSF showed changes in the arcuate fasciculus structure – a bundle of axons within the hypothalamus connecting the temporal and inferior parietal cortices. The arcuate fasciculus is made up of the Wernicke and Broca structures – both of which are made of gray matter. It was found that a greater number of abnormalities in the arcuate fasciculus increased the level of fatigue and memory impairments demonstrated in CFS patients (Zeineh et al. 2014). The very same could be true in *long-COVID-19* patients as well. A damaged arcuate fasciculus is also described to lead to slower language processing and comprehension skills (Ivanova et al. 2021). From this, we can propose that the hypothalamus, specifically the arcuate fasciculus, correlates with higher levels of fatigue and possibly some deficiencies in language processing among those with *long-COVID-19*.

In conclusion, we suspect that the hippocampus, thalamus, hypothalamus (paraventricular nucleus and arcuate nucleus), prefrontal cortex, and cingulate cortex are all the targets of the *COVID-19* virus and suffer long term damage after recovery. The virus affects these areas of the cerebrum by means of the arcuate fasciculus bundle, thalamocingulate tracts, and entorhinal cortex. For the previous information, I may extrapolate that cytokines travel across the thalamus, cingulate cortex, parahippocampal gyrus, and hippocampus by the thalamocingulate tract. The thalamus is connected to the cingulate cortex by the thalamocingulate tract which then travels along the cingulum, parahippocampal gyrus and hippocampus. Since the posterior cingulate gyrus is connected to the hippocampal memory system and parietal cortex by dorsal streams (Rolls 2019) while the mediodorsal thalamus connects to the prefrontal cortex via thalamocortical tracts (Ferguson & Gao 2015), we can presume that all of these structures are

affected due to their vicinity and connections. We can suggest that the hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, and posterior cingulate cortex are three structures capable of altering a patient's cognitive abilities. Infection of the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex manifests in forms of poor memory and perception. Inflammatory response in the posterior cingulate cortex contributes to delayed object recognition and poor perception as well. Lastly, the hypothalamus may be responsible for reduced language comprehension and memory impairment while the thalamus and prefrontal cortex is proposed to be the culprit of poor executive function. The increase of similar pro-inflammatory cytokines presents a unique relationship between chronic fatigue syndrome and COVID-19. It is possible that CFS is a direct result of COVID-19 due to possessing similar regions of infection, mirroring patterns of protein release, and both demonstrating symptoms of executive dysfunction, poor memory, delayed object recognition, and language comprehension.

### **Outcomes**

The overall objective of this study, to find out and compare what areas of the cerebrum are associated with the *long-COVID-19* symptoms patients experience, will come with a varying set of results. This study intends to associate various parts of the cerebrum with their respective symptoms produced by *long-COVID-19* patients. Given what is already known about the brain and what they perform under normal and pathological conditions, there is a potential to narrow down what parts of the brain are culprits for the symptoms witnessed. Additionally, research conducted in this study will summarize the symptoms of *long-COVID-19* based on journals published with concrete evidence from multiple sources. Summarizing the key results of recent

and in-depth research could benefit the scientific community in that it will help scientists come to a firm conclusion about what symptoms are often caused by *long-COVID-19* and what symptoms can be excluded in typical cases.

A portion of this project aspires to pinpoint one or multiple synaptic pathways that permit electrical and chemical signals to enter into two or more *long-COVID-19*-infected brain structures. Establishing key connections such as these could one day improve what we currently know about COVID-19 and its pathogenesis. Consequently, obtaining such knowledge may assist us in utilizing specific blocking agents of neural pathways based on where the sites of entry are located. Since many individuals such as myself have become increasingly curious about the capacities *long-COVID-19* and to what extent it harms the brain, this project attempts to repeatedly inquire about it in detail and in the long term. This is also a wonderful opportunity for a young student like myself to obtain key knowledge that is currently undiscovered by the scientific community for the first time. The information obtained from this project could greatly enhance the forms of treatments and medications I, in the future, will perform and dispense to patients suffering from *long-COVID-19* and similar viral illnesses.

## **Biographical Note**

I am a student majoring in Health Sciences with a strong interest in gross human anatomy. Currently, I am pursuing a degree with a concentration in Pre-Pharmacy and aspire to attend a pharmacy institution in the near future. The primary role of a pharmacist is to ensure that the correct prescription is allotted as it will greatly impact a patient's experience. Since I desire to prioritize my career in curative patient care, discovering the sources of memory, motor, sensory, and visual impairments exhibited by various disease states will assist me in deciding what medications could improve symptoms.

For the reasons mentioned above, I believe that this project may help me develop a strong understanding of the characteristics severe diseases possess and possibly provide me, and the rest of the scientific community, with great insight into what can be done to mitigate the symptoms of *long-COVID* and similar viruses. Knowing that I must continually broaden my knowledge of new diseases, gaining background on what occurs on a physiological level will make me an active combatant against illnesses within the realm of pharmacy. With that in mind, I plan to use this project as the first step in taking an in-depth look at what a disease does at a physiological level to one day develop new cures for such an illness.

# **Acknowledgments**

I give my deepest thanks to Professor Kauhn, to whom I owe an immense debt of gratitude for guiding me throughout this project. I would also like to acknowledge the Oakland University Honors College for turning my dreams of research into a reality.

- Aiello N, Fiabane E, Manera R, Radici A, Grossi F, Ottonello M, Vassallo C, Pain D, Pistarini C.
  2022. Episodic long-term memory in post-infectious SARS-CoV-2 patients. Neurol Sci
  43: 785–788 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05752-8</u>.
- Akbari A, Asadi-Pooya AA, Ashrafi S, Barzegar Z, Emami A, Farjoud-Kouhanjani M, Jafari A, Kabiri M, Lotfi M, Nasiri S, Nazaeri M, Nemati H, Rostamihosseinkhani M, Sasannia F, Shahisavandi M, Zeraatpisheh Z. 2021. Long COVID syndrome-associated brain fog. Journal of Medical Virology. 94(3):979-984.
- Alba S, Zozaya N, Murillo N, Garcia-Molina A, Chacon C, Kumru H. 2021. What's going on following acute COVID-19? Clinical characteristics of patients in an out-patient rehabilitation program. NeuroRehabilitation. 48: 469-480.
- Alemanno F, Houdayer E, Parma A, Spina A, Forno A, Scatolini A, Angelone S, Bruguiella L, Tettamanti A, Beretta L, Iannaccone, S. 2021. COVID-19 cognitive deficits after respiratory assistance in the subacute phase: A COVID-rehabilitation unit experience. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0246590.
- Almeria M, Cejudo, J, Sotoca J, Deus J, Krupinski J. 2020. Cognitive profile following COVID-19 infection: Clinical predictors leading to neuropsychological impairment. Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health. 9: 100163

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100163.

Alvarez JI, Katayama T, Prat A. 2013. Glial influence on the blood brain barrier. Glia. 61:1939-1958. Doi: 10.1002/glia.22575.

- Ardila A. 2019. Executive Dysfunction in Subcortical Diseases. Dysexecutive Syndromes. 143-153. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-25077-5 7.
- Ardila A, Lahiri D. 2020. Executive dysfunction in COVID-19 patients. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 14(5):1377-1378. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.07.032.

Bachiller S, Jimenez-Ferrer I, Paulus A, Yang Y, Swanberg M, Deierborg T, Boza-Serrano A.
2018. Microglia in Neurological Diseases: A Road Map to Brain-Disease
Dependent-Inflammatory Response. Front Cell Neurosci. 12:488. doi:
10.3389/fncel.2018.00488.

Berentschot J, Drexhage H, Mersha D, Wijkhuijs A, GeurtsvanKessel C, Koopamans M,
Voermans J, Heijenbrok-Kal M, Bek L, Ribbers G, Berg-Emons R, Aerts J, Dik W,
Hellemons M. 2022. Severe fatigue as symptom of long COVID is characterized by
increased expression of inflammatory genes in monocytes, increased serum
pro-inflammatory cytokines, and increased CD8+ T-lymphocytes: A putative
dysregulation of the immune-brain axis, the coagulation process, and auto-inflammation
to explain the diversity of long COVID symptoms. MedRxiv. doi:

https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.09.15.22279970

- Buffo A, Chiara R, Stefania C. 2010. Astrocytes in the damaged brain: Molecular and cellular insights into their reactive response and healing potential. Biochemical Pharmacology. 79(2):77-89. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2009.09.014.
- Cabezas R, Avila M, Gonzalez J, El-Bachá RS, Báez E, García-Segura LM, Jurado Coronel JC, Capani F, Cardona-Gomez GP, Barreto GE. 2014. Astrocytic modulation of blood brain

barrier: perspectives on Parkinson's disease. Front Cell Neurosci. 4(8):211. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00211.

- Caseras X, Mataix-Cols D, Rimes K, Giampietro V, Brammer M, Zelaya F, Godfrey E. 2008.
  The neural correlates of fatigue: An exploratory imaginal fatigue provocation study in chronic fatigue syndrome. Psychological Medicine. 38(7): 941-951.
  doi:10.1017/S0033291708003450.
- Cholevas C, Politis A. 2021, Polyzoidis K, Theoharides TC. 2021. Long-COVID syndrome-associated brain fog and chemo fog: Luteolin to the rescue. Biofactors. 47(2): 232-241.
- Del Brutto O, Mera R, Recalde B, Rumbea D. 2021. Cognitive sequelae of long COVID may not be permanent: A prospective study. European Journal of Neurology. 29(4):1218-1221.
- Duggan E, Jennings G, Monaghan A, Romero-Ortuño R, Xue F. 2022. Comprehensive Clinical Characterization of Brain Fog in Adults Reporting Long COVID symptoms. Journal of clinical medicine. 11(12): 3440.
- Farid K, Hugon J, Msika E, Paquet C, Queneau M. 2021. Long COVID: cognitive complaints (brain fog) and dysfunction of the cingulate cortex. J Neurol. 269(1): 44-46.
- Ferguson B, Gao W. 2015. Development of thalamocortical connections between the mediodorsal thalamus and the prefrontal cortex and its implication in cognition. Front Hum Neurosci. 8, 1027. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.01027
- Ferrucci R, Dini M, Rosci C, Capozza A, Groppo E, Reitano R, Allocco E, Poletti B, Brugnera A, Bai F, Monti A, Ticozzi N, Silani V, Centanni S, D'Arminio A, Tagliabue L, Priori A.

2022. One-year cognitive follow-up of COVID-19 hospitalized patients. Eur J Neurol. 29(7):2006-2014. doi: 10.1111/ene.15324.

- Galal I, Hussein A, Amin M, Saad M, Zayan H, Abdelsayed M, Moustafa M, Ezzat A, Helmy R,
  Elaal H, Massry N, Soliman M, Ismail A, Kholief K, Fathy E, Hashem M. 2021. Egypt J
  Bronchol. 15, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s43168-020-00049-4.
- Graham E, Clark J, Orban Z, Lim P, Szymanski A, Taylor C, DiBase R, Jia D, Balabanov R, Ho S, Batra A, Liotta E, Koralnik I. 2021. Annals of Clinical and Translational Neurology. 8: 1073-1085. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.51350
- Hadad R, Khoury J, Stanger C, Fisher T, Schneer S, Ben-Hayun R, Possin K, Valcour V, Aharon-Peretz J, Adir Y. 2022. J Neurovirol. 28: 430-437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13365-022-01079-y
- Hampshire A, Trender W, Chamberlain S, Jolly A, Grant J, Patrick F, Mazibuko N, Williams S, Barnby J, Hellyer P, Mehta M. 2021. Cognitive deficits in people who have recovered from COVID-19. EClinicalMedicine. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101044
- Hosp J, Dressing A, Blazhenets G, Bormann T, Rau A, Schwabenlalnd M, Thurow J, Wagner D,
  Waller C, Niesen W, Frings L, Urbach H, Prinz M, Weiler C, Schroeter N, Meyer P. 2021.
  Cognitive impairment and altered vertebral glucose metabolism in the subacute stage of
  COVID-19. Brain. 144: 1263-1276 https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab009
- Ivanova M, Zhong A, Turken A, Baldo J, Dronkers N. 2021. Function Contributions of the Arcuate Fasciculus to Language Processing. Front Hum Neurosci. 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.672665.

- Kronfol Z, Remick D. 2000. Cytokines and the Brain: Implications for Clinical Psychiatry. The Am J Psychiatry. 157(5): 683-694. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.5.683
- Linnerbauer M, Wheeler MA, Quintana FJ. 2020. Astrocyte Crosstalk in CNS Inflammation. Neuron. 108(4):608-622. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2020.08.012.
- Li-rong L, Jia-chen L, Jin-shuang B, Qin-qin B, Gai-qing W. 2020. Interaction of Microglia and Astrocytes in the Neurovascular Unit. Front. Immunol. 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01024
- Llana T, Zorzo C, Mendez-Lopez M, Mendez M. 2022. Memory alterations after COVID-19 infection: a systematic review. Applied Neurophysiology: Adult. 10:1080.
- Marshall JS. 2004. Mast-cell responses to pathogens. Nat Rev Immunol. 4(10):787–99. Doi: 10.1038/nri1460.
- Matos A, Dahy F, Moura J, Marcusso M, Gomes A, Carvalho F, Fernandes G, Felix A, Smid J,
  Vidal J, Frota N, Casseb J, Easton A, Solomon T, Witkin S, Romano C, Oliveira A. 2021.
  Subacute Cognitive Impairment in Individuals With Mild and Moderate COVID-19: A
  Case Series. Frontiers in Neurology. 12: 678924.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.678924

- Mattioli F, Stampatori F, Righetti E, Sala C, Tomasi G, De P. 2021. Neurological and cognitive sequelae of covid-19: A four month follow-up. Journal of Neurology, 268: 4422-4428
- Mendez R, Balanza-Martinez V, Luperdi S.C, Estrada I, Latorre A, Gonzales-Jimenez P, Feced
  L, Bouzas L, Yepez K, Ferrando A, Hervas D, Zaldivar E, Reyes S, Berk M, Menendez
  R. 2021. Short-term neuropsychiatric outcomes and quality of life in COVID-19

survivors. Journal of Internal Medicine. 290: 621-631.

https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.13262.

- Mosser DM, and Edwards JP. 2008. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol. 8:958-969. doi: 10.1038/nri2448.
- Paulson OB, Newman EA. 1987. Does the release of potassium from astrocyte endfeet regulate cerebral blood flow? *Science* 237:896–898.
- Rolls, E. The cingulate cortex and limbic systems for emotion, action, and memory. Brain Struct Funct. 2019 Dec;224(9):3001-3018. doi: 10.1007/s00429-019-01945-2
- Rolls, E. & Wirth, S. 2018. Spatial representations in the primate hippocampus, and their functions in memory and navigation. Prog Neurobiol. 2018;171:90–113. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2018.09.004.
- Smith J, Das A, Ray S, Banik, N. 2011. Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. Brain Res Bull. 4, 87(1):10-20. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.10.004.
- Sonfroniew MV, and Vinters HV. 2010. Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol. 119:7-35. doi: 10.1007/s00401-009-0619-8.
- Sykes D, Holdsworth L, Jawad N, Gunasekera P, Morice Alyn, Crooks M. 2021.
  Post-COVID-19 Symptom Burden: What is Long-COVID and How Should We Manage
  It? Lung. 199: 119-119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-021-00423-z
- Venkataramani V, Winkler F. 2022. Cognitive Deficits in Long-COVID-19. New England Journal of Medicine. 387:1813-1815

- Versace V, Sebastianelli L, Ferrazzoli D, Romanello R, Ortelli P, Saltuari L, D'Acunto A,
  Porrazzini F, Ajello V, Oliviero A, Kofler M, Koch G. 2021. Intracortical GABergic
  dysfunction in patients with fatigue and dysexecutive syndrome after COVID-19.
  Clinical Neurophysiology. 132, 1138-1143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinph.2021.03.001.
- Weininger J, Roman E, Tierney P, Barry D, Gallagher H, Murphy P, Levins K, O'Keane V,
  O'Hanlon E, Roddy, D. 2019. Papez's Forgotten Tract: 80 Years of Unreconciled
  Findings Concerning the Thalamocingulate Tract. Front. Neuroanat. 13.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2019.00014
- Williams E, Martins T, Shah K, Hill H, Coiras M, Spivak A, Planelles V. 2022. Cytokine Deficiencies in Patients with Long-COVID. J Clin Cell Immunol. 13(6):672.
- Wong AD, Ye M, Levy AF, Rothstein JD, Bergles DE, Searson PC. 2013. The blood-brain barrier: an engineering perspective. Front Neuroeng. 6:7. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2013.00007.
- Wostyn P. 2021. COVID-19 and chronic fatigue syndrome: Is the worst yet to come? Medical Hypotheses. 146: 110469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110469.
- Yang T, Yang Y, Wang D, Li C, Qu Y, Guo J, Shi T, Bo W, Sun Z, Asakawa T. 2019. The clinical value of cytokines in chronic fatigue syndrome. Journal of Translational Medicine. 17: 213. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-019-1948-6.
- Zeineh M, Kang J, Atlas S, Raman M, Reiss A, Norris J, Valencia I, Montoya J. 2014. Right Arcuate Fasciculus Abnormality in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. Journal of Radiology. 274(2). doi: https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.14141079.

- Zhang L, Zhou L, Bao L, Liu J, Zhu H, Liu R, Chen W, Tong W, Wei Q, Xu Y, Deng W, Gao H, Xue J, Song Z, Yu P, Han Y, Zhang Y, Sun X, Yu X, Qin C. 2021. SARS-CoV-2 crosses the blood–brain barrier accompanied with basement membrane disruption without tight junctions alteration. Sig Transduct Target Ther. 6:337. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00719-9.
- Zhao S. Shibata K, Hellyer J, Trender W, Manohar S, Hampshire A, Husain M. 2022. Rapid vigilance and episodic memory decrements in COVID-19 survivors. Brain Commun. 4(1). doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcab295.

Zhou H, Lu S, Chen J, Wei N, Wang D, Lyu H, Shi C, Hu S. 2020. The Landscape of cognitive function in recovered COVID-19 patients. Journal of Psychiatric Research. 129: 98-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.06.022. Bakola E, Boutati E, Gaga M, George P, Giannopoulos S, Grigoriadis N, Krogias C, Palaiodimou
L, Papadopoulou M, Rizos E, Smyrnis N, Stefanou M, Tsiodras S, Tsivgoulis G. 2022.
Neurological manifestations of long-COVID syndrome: a narrative review. Ther Adv
Chronic Dis. 17(13). doi: 10.1177/20406223221076890.

Shimohata T. 2022. Neuro-COVID-19. Clinical & Experimental neuroimmunology. 13(1):17-23.